# AGREEMENT

between

# WILLIAMSTON COMMUNITY SCHOOLS BOARD OF EDUCATION

and the

WILLIAMSTON CUSTODIAL AND MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION

**COVERING THE PERIOD** 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2027

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PURPOSE	
ARTICLE II	1
ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION, AGENCY SHOP CLAUSE, CHECK-OFF	
Association Recognition	1
Agency Shop Clause	1
ARTICLE III	
NON-DISCRIMINATION	. 1
ARTICLE IV	. 2
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	. 2
ARTICLE V	3
CELL PHONE STIPENDS AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE VI	. 4
STEWARDS	
ARTICLE VII	. 4
SAFETY PRACTICES	
ARTICLE VIII	4
STRIKE PROHIBITION	
ARTICLE IX	. 5
RETIREMENT	
ARTICLE X	. 5
JURISDICTION	
ARTICLE XI	. 5
SENIORITY	
ARTICLE XII	. 6
NEW JOBS, TRANSFERS, AND JOB POSTING PROCEDURES	
ARTICLE XIII	
NEW JOBS	. 7

ARTICLE XIV	8
LEAVES OF ABSENCE	8
ARTICLE XV	9
DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	9
Notice of Discharge, Suspension, or Discipline	10
Factors Causing Loss of Seniority and Employment	10
ARTICLE XVI	11
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	11
Step One	11
Step Two	11
Step Three	12
Step Four	12
ARTICLE XVII	13
HOURS AND WORK WEEK	13
Special Job Premium	15
ARTICLE XVIII	15
SICK LEAVE	15
Personal Business Days	15
Funeral Leave	16
Attendance Bonus	16
ARTICLE XIX	17
HOLIDAYS	17
ARTICLE XX	18
INSURANCE BENEFITS	18
Life Insurance	18
Dental Insurance	18
Vision Insurance	18
Long Term Disability Insurance	19
Enrollment	19
Termination of Benefits	19
Continuation of Coverage	19
Double Coverage	19
ARTICLE XXI	19
VACATIONS	10

ARTICLE XXII	20
SEVERE WEATHER AND EMERGENCIES	20
Reporting During Severe Weather	20
Call-In During Severe Weather	20
Failure to Report	
ARTICLE XXIII	21
JURY DUTY	21
ARTICLE XXIV	21
WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION	21
ARTICLE XXV	22
CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION	22
ARTICLE XXVI	22
BINDING EFFECTIVE AGREEMENT	22
ARTICLE XXVII	22
SCOPE, WAIVER, AND ALTERATION OF AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE XXVIII	23
TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION	
SCHEDULE A	25
WAGE SCHEDULE	25
LONGEVITY	
PAID RETIREMENT	26
MISCELLANEOUS	

## ARTICLE I

## **PURPOSE**

It is the purpose of this Agreement to promote and insure harmonious relations, cooperation and understanding between the Employer and the employees covered hereby, to ensure true collective bargaining, and to establish rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, working conditions, or other conditions of employment.

## **ARTICLE II**

## ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION, AGENCY SHOP CLAUSE, CHECK-OFF

## Section 1. Association Recognition

- (a) The Employer hereby recognizes the Association as the exclusive representative and sole bargaining agent of the employees as identified immediately herein with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment.
- (b) The term "employee" as used herein shall include all Maintenance employees, and Bus Mechanics, Custodial Foreman, all Head Custodians and Custodians employees of the Employer, but excluding all Supervisors substitutes, or temporary hires, and all other employees.

## Section 2. Agency Shop Clause

On the 90<sup>th</sup> day of employment new employees will be eligible to join the Association. Association membership will be made available to employees of the bargaining unit on the same terms as other employees and in accordance with the constitution and bylaws of the Association.

## **ARTICLE III**

#### NON-DISCRIMINATION

The Employer and the Association both recognize their responsibilities under Federal, State, and local laws pertaining to fair employment practices, as well as the moral principles involved in the area of Civil Rights. According, both parties reaffirm by this Agreement the commitment not to discriminate in policies and practices with respect to compensation, terms or conditions of employment because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, height, weight, marital status, political belief, disability, or handicap which

does not impair an individual's ability to perform adequately in that individual's particular position or activity.

#### **ARTICLE IV**

## **MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

The Employer, on its own behalf and on behalf of its electors, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and the Constitution of the State of Michigan and of the United States. Further, all rights which ordinarily vest in and are exercised by employers, except such as are specifically relinquished herein, are reserved to and remain vested in the Employer, including but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the rights:

- (a) to manage its affairs efficiently and economically, including the determination of quality and quality of services to be rendered, the control of materials, tools and equipment to be used, the discontinuance of any services, material or methods of operation;
- (b) to introduce new equipment, methods, machinery or processes, change or eliminate existing equipment and institute technological changes, decide on materials, supplies, equipment and tools to be purchased;
- (c) to sub-contract or purchase any or all work, processes or services, or the construction of new facilities, or the improvement of existing facilities;
- (d) to determine the number, location and type of facilities and installations;
- (e) to determine the size of the workforce and increase or decrease its size;
- (f) to hire, assign and lay-off employees, to direct the workforce, assign work and determine the number of employees assigned to operations;
- (g) to establish job duties;
- (h) to determine lunch and the number of hours to be worked;
- (i) to transfer, promote and demote employees from one classification or department to another;

 (j) to select employees for promotion or transfer to supervisory or other positions and determine the qualifications and competency of employees to perform available work.

The Employer agrees that the rights of the Association are specifically listed in this Agreement, and all subjects not specifically listed in this Agreement are retained by the Employer, and the Association agrees that this Article entitled "Management Rights" shall not be the subject of any grievance whatsoever.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities by the Board, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations, and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such terms hereof are in conformance with the laws of the State of Michigan, and the laws of the United States. The matters contained in this Agreement and/or the exercise of any such rights of the Board are not subject to further negotiations between the parties during the term of this Agreement.

## **ARTICLE V**

## CELL PHONE STIPENDS AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE

(a) Association members shall be paid an annual Cell Phone Stipend as follows:

Day Custodians	\$500 Annually	First pay period in December
Night Custodians	\$500 Annually	First pay period in December
Maintenance	\$500 Annually	First pay period in December

(b) Association members shall be paid an annual Clothing Allowance as follows:

Probationary Association Members	\$350 Annually	First pay period in December
All Other Association Members	\$350 Annually	First pay period in December

- (c) Cell phone stipends and clothing allowances will be prorated based on hire date and calendar year.
- (d) Association member shall be provided work shirts as listed below:

Probationary Association Members	Five (5) work shirts with name and district logo embroidered or printed
All Other Association Members	Three (3) work shirts annually with name and district logo embroidered or printed

## **ARTICLE VI**

## **STEWARDS**

- (a) Employees may be represented by a Chief Steward and a designated Assistant Steward, whose identity shall be made known to the Employer.
- (b) Reasonable arrangements will be made to allow the Chief Steward time off with pay for the purpose of investigating grievances, and to attend grievance and negotiating meetings with approval of the Administration.
- (c) Any new employee shall be introduced to the Chief Steward before starting to work, or else the Steward shall be supplied the following information within the employee's first week of employment: name, address, classification, job location, and shift assignment.
- (d) During his or her term of office, the Chief Steward shall be deemed to head the seniority list for the purpose of shift preference, lay-off, and recall only; provided he or she is qualified to do the required work. Upon termination of the term, he or she shall be returned to his regular seniority status.

#### **ARTICLE VII**

#### SAFETY PRACTICES

The Employer will take measures in order to prevent or eliminate any hazards which the employees may encounter at their places of work, in accordance with the provisions of the State and local regulations.

#### **ARTICLE VIII**

#### STRIKE PROHIBITION

The Association recognizes that strikes, as defined by Section 1 of Public Act 336 of 1947 of Michigan, as amended, are contrary to law and public policy. The Board and the Association subscribe to the principle that differences shall be resolved by appropriate and peaceful means, in keeping with the high standards of education, without interruption of the school program. Accordingly, the Association agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it will not direct, instigate, participate in, encourage or support any strike against the Board by any member or group of members which is contrary to law.

#### ARTICLE IX

## RETIREMENT

When qualified for MPSERS retirement, and with a minimum of ten (10) years' service with the district, employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid for accumulated sick leave days in accordance with the following:

- 1. There shall be a thirty (30) day deductible from accumulated sick leave.
- 2. Payment shall be at the rate of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per day.
- 3. Maximum payment per employee shall be limited to ten thousand (\$10,000.00).

## **ARTICLE X**

#### JURISDICTION

Except for the working maintenance supervisor assisting bargaining unit members, employees of the Employer not covered by the terms of this Agreement may temporarily perform work covered by this Agreement only for the purpose of instructional training, experimentation or in cases of emergency.

#### **ARTICLE XI**

#### SENIORITY

- (a) A newly hired employee, or an employee upon entry into the bargaining unit, shall be on a probationary status for ninety (90) calendar days taken from and including the first day of employment. If at any time prior to the completion of the ninety (90) calendar day probationary period the employee's work performance is unsatisfactory, he may be dismissed by the Employer during this period without appeal by the Association. Probationary employees who are absent during the first ninety (90) calendar days of employment shall work additional days equal to the number of days absent, and such employee shall not have completed his probationary period until these additional days have been worked.
- (b) Upon satisfactory completion of the probationary period, the employee's seniority shall be retroactive to the date of hiring or upon entering into the bargaining unit.

- (c) Seniority in classification shall be as of date of entry into the classification, except for a probationary employee, in which case it shall be the date of completion of probation as provided in (a) above.
- (d) Employees shall be laid off, recalled, or demoted according to their seniority in their classification. An employee on scheduled lay-off shall have the right to displace a lesser seniority employee who is in a lower classification; provided, the senior employee is qualified to hold the position held by the least seniority employee.
- (e) An employee will lose his seniority for the following reasons:
  - 1. He resigned from a classification covered by this Agreement.
  - 2. He is discharged for just cause and not reinstated through the Grievance Procedure.
  - Upon normal retirement.
- (f) Upon annual request of the Association, a current seniority list shall be made available to each employee covered by this Agreement. Such list shall contain date of hire, classification, seniority date and the employee's rate of pay.

## **ARTICLE XII**

## **NEW JOBS, TRANSFERS, AND JOB POSTING PROCEDURES**

- (a) Notice of all vacancies and newly created positions shall be posted on employee bulletin boards, and the employees shall be given five (5) working days' time in which to make application to fill the vacancy or new position. Transfers and promotions shall be made on the following basis: qualifications, past work record, demonstrated ability to perform the work involved. When all factors are deemed equal, the employee with the most seniority making application shall be transferred to fill the open position. Newly created positions or vacancies are to be posted in the following manner: the type of work, the starting date, the rate of pay, the hours to be worked, and the classification.
- (b) The accepted employee shall be transferred immediately when a replacement for his job is secured in the above manner and has been adequately trained to perform the duties involved.

- (c) Any employee temporarily transferred from his classification to another classification within the bargaining unit shall be paid either the rate of the position from which he is transferred, or the rate of the position to which he is transferred, whichever is higher.
- (d) Temporary transfers shall be for a period of no longer than thirty (30) calendar days, except in the event that both parties mutually agree to an extension of the thirty (30) calendar days' time period. In the event that it is not mutually agreeable to extend the temporary transfer beyond the thirty (30) calendar day time period, the position shall be considered an open position and posted for bidding.
- (e) The Board shall have the right to appoint the Head Custodian based on qualifications such as leadership abilities, work record, and seniority. The Head Custodian will be paid an additional one dollar (\$1.00) per hour than Step Five (5) of the Maintenance 1 scale.
- (f) The Head Custodian will be responsible for ordering supplies, supervising members within his or her building, coordinating member schedules, and other duties as assigned by the Director of Operations.

## **ARTICLE XIII**

## **NEW JOBS**

(a) The Employer shall have the right to establish, evaluate, change and eliminate jobs, providing such action on the part of the Employer shall not be directed toward reducing the rate of the job in which no substantial change in the job itself has occurred. When a new or revised job involves duties, which are not adequately or specifically described or properly evaluated in an existing job description, specification and classification, the Employer has the right to develop and establish such new or revised job descriptions, specifications, classifications, and rates of pay, and to place them into effect.

The Employer shall notify the Association in writing of any such temporary job which has been into effect upon the institution of such job.

(b) The new classification and rate of pay shall be considered as temporary for a period of thirty (30) calendar days following the date of written notification to the Association. During this thirty (30) calendar day period, but not thereafter during the life of this Agreement, the Association may request in writing the Employer to negotiate the classification and pay rate. The negotiated rate, if higher than the

temporary rate, shall be applied to the rate at which the employee first began working in the temporary classification, except as otherwise mutually agreed. In a case where the parties are unable to agree on the classification and/or rate of pay, the issue may be submitted to the Grievance Procedure. When a new classification has been assigned a permanent rate of pay, either as a result of the Association not requesting negotiations for the temporary classification during the specified period of time, or as a result of final negotiations, or upon resolving the matter through the Grievance Procedure, the new classification shall be added to and become a part of Schedule A of the Agreement.

(c) The Employer, in cooperation with the Association, may provide in-service training for bargaining unit members to improve and advance the job-related skills, or acquire new skills which will be of value to the Employer and the employee. Management has the right to determine the program topics, the frequency of inservice programs, as well as the number of bargaining unit members who will attend each in-service program.

## **ARTICLE XIV**

## **LEAVES OF ABSENCE**

- (a) An employee who, because of illness or accident which is non-compensable under the Workmen's Compensation Law, is physically unable to report for work and has exhausted any means of compensation from the Employer, shall be granted a leave of absence for the duration of such disability, provided he promptly notifies the Employer of the necessity therefore, and provided he promptly notifies the Employer with a certificate from a medical or osteopathic doctor of the necessity for such absence, and for the continuation of such absence when the same is requested by the Employer.
- (b) Leaves of absence shall be granted for a specified period of time for training related to an employee's regular duties in an approved educational institution.
- (c) Consistent with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA) and any amendments, a member who has been employed by the Board for at least twelve (12) months and worked for at least 1,250 hours over the previous twelve (12) months, is entitled to up to twelve (12) workweeks of FMLA leave in a twelve (12) month period. Should the medical verification provided by the member's physician not allow the member to continue in their normal job function because of a medical need, the member shall be granted an unpaid medical leave of absence, without benefits, not to exceed on year.

- (d) The reinstatement rights of any employee who enters the Military Service shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Federal, State, or local law granting such rights.
- (e) Leaves of absence will be granted to employees who are active in the National Guard, or a branch of the Armed Forces Reserves, for the purpose of fulfilling their annual field training obligations, provided such an employee makes written request for such leave of absence immediately upon receiving their orders to report for such duty.
- (f) All reasons for leaves of absence shall be in writing stating the reason for the request to be maintained by the Employer, a copy of the approval furnished to the employee.
- (g) An employee who meets all of the requirements as hereinbefore specified may apply for a leave of absence without pay, shall accumulate seniority during his leave of absence, and he shall be entitled to resume his regular seniority status and all job and recall rights. Leaves of absence may be granted at the discretion of the Employer for reasons other than those listed above when they are deemed beneficial to the Employer and the employees.
- (h) An employee, to affect their return to work from a leave of absence granted under section (f) and section (a), if practicable, must notify in writing the Williamston Community Schools within sixty (60) working days prior to the date the person intends to return to work. The Employer may request a verification of health of an employee in relation to the performance of the employee's normal job duties prior to return to work.

## **ARTICLE XV**

## DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

Dismissal, suspension, and/or other disciplinary action shall be only for just cause and stated causes with the employees having the right to defend themselves against any and all charges.

(a) The Employer will follow a policy of progressive discipline, subject to "(b)" below, which includes verbal warning, written warning, reprimand, suspension, and discharge as a last resort.

- (b) The point of initiation to any disciplinary action may be determined by the severity of the employee's behavior.
- (c) Warnings and reprimands shall be discussed privately between the employee and the administrator, except when either party requests the presence of an Association and/or administration representative.
- (d) When the Employer feels disciplinary action is warranted, such action must be initiated within fifteen (15) working days of the date it is reasonable to assume that the Employer became fully aware of the conditions giving rise to the discipline.

## (e) Notice of Discharge, Suspension, or Discipline

The Employer agrees that upon the discharge, suspension, or discipline of an employee, to notify the employee in writing of the discharge, suspension, or discipline within three (3) working day of said action.

## (f) Factors Causing Loss of Seniority and Employment

Some of the factors causing suspension, dismissal, and/or any other disciplinary action, but not limited to:

- 1. Absence for one (1) day without proper notification to the Employer, and without a good sufficient reason.
- 2. Repeated and chronic tardiness.
- 3. Failure to return to work from an authorized leave of absence at the agreed upon date, without just and sufficient reasons acceptable to the Employer, is considered a voluntary resignation.
- 4. Insubordination to supervisor.
- 5. Incompetence in work performance.
- 6. Conduct unbecoming of a public employee.

## ARTICLE XVI

## **GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- (a) A grievance shall be an alleged violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the express terms of this Agreement.
- (b) The time elements in the steps can be shortened or extended upon written mutual agreement between the parties.
- (c) Working days shall be defined as those days Monday through Friday.
- (d) Matters of working conditions are subject to conferences, to be called by either party.
- (e) Any employee grievance or Association grievance not presented for disposition through the Grievance Procedure in five (5) working days of the occurrence of the condition giving rise to the grievance, or within five (5) working days of the date it is reasonable to assume that the employee first became aware of the conditions giving rise to the grievance, the grievance shall not hereafter be considered a grievance under this Agreement.

## Step One.

- (a) Any employee having a grievance shall discuss the grievance informally with his supervisor, and then if the grievance is not settled orally, the employee may request a meeting with the Steward and the supervisor to discuss the grievance.
- (b) In the event the grievance is not settled orally by the supervisor, the Steward shall submit the grievance in writing to the supervisor within five (5) working days from the oral presentation. The employee and the Steward shall sign the grievance forms. The grievance forms must indicate (1) statement of the grievance and the facts upon which it is based and citing the alleged violation(s) of the Agreement, and (2) the remedy or correction requested. The supervisor shall give his decision in writing within five (5) working days.

## Step Two.

(a) Any appeal of a decision rendered by the immediate supervisor shall be presented in writing to the Superintendent or his designee within five (5) working days of the receipt of the written decision of the immediate supervisor. The appeal shall state

- the reason or reasons why the decision of the immediate supervisor was not satisfactory.
- (b) The Superintendent or his designee shall meet with an Association Representative at a time mutually agreeable to them, but not later than fifteen (15) working days following receipt of the appeal.
- (c) The Superintendent or his designee shall then give his decision in writing to the Association within ten (10) working days of the meeting.

## Step Three.

- (a) Any appeal of a decision rendered by the Superintendent of Schools or his designee shall be presented in writing to the Board of Education within five (5) working days from the date of receipt of the decision rendered by the Superintendent of Schools or his designee. The President of the Board, within ten (10) days after receipt of the grievance, shall decide whether or not to schedule a hearing for the Board's next regular scheduled meeting. The Board shall communicate the decision to the Association within five (5) days. If the hearing is held, the Board shall render its decision within one (1) month from the date of the hearing.
- (b) The Board of Education shall give their decision in writing relative to the grievance before the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) Monday of the following month of their meeting with the Association Representative.

## Step Four.

- (a) If the grievance is not able to be settled at the level of the Board of Education, then within fifteen (15) working days from receipt of the decision of the Board of Education, the grievance must be submitted to arbitration.
- (b) Arbitration shall be invoked by written notice to the other party of intention to arbitrate. If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within seven (7) days of such notice, the party desiring arbitration shall refer the matter to the Michigan Employment Relations Commission for the selection of an impartial arbitrator.
- (c) The Arbitrator, the Association, or the Employer may call any person as a witness in any arbitration hearing.
- (d) Each party shall be responsible for the expenses of the witnesses that they may call.

- (e) The Arbitrator shall not have jurisdiction to add to, subtract from, or modify any of the terms of this Agreement, or any written amendments hereof, or to specify the terms of a new Agreement, or to substitute his discretion for that of any of the parties hereto.
- (f) The per diem fees of the Arbitrator shall be borne by the non-prevailing party. The Arbitrator shall be requested to specify who the non-prevailing party is.
- (g) The Arbitrator shall render his decision in writing not later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the conclusion of the arbitration hearing.
- (h) The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final, conclusive, and binding upon all employees, the Employer, and the Association.

## **ARTICLE XVII**

## **HOURS AND WORK WEEK**

## Section 1.

- (a) The regular scheduled work week shall consist of forty (40) hours, beginning at 12:01 a.m. Monday, and ending one hundred sixty-eight (168) hours thereafter.
- (b) The normal work day shall be eight (8) consecutive hours.
- (c) Each employee will be given two (2), fifteen (15) minute rest periods during a working day; one (1) during the first four (4) hours, second (2<sup>nd</sup>) during the second four (4) hours.
- (d) The normal work day shall be eight (8) consecutive hours, excluding an unpaid lunch period. There shall be three (3) shifts days, afternoons and midnights. The day shift shall begin between the hours of 5:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. The afternoon shift shall begin between the hours of 1:00 p.m. and 4:30 p.m. The midnight shift shall begin between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 12:00 p.m. All employees whose normal hours are changed due to necessity will receive forty-eight (48) hours' notice, or shorter notice if an emergency exists.
- (e) Time and one half (1.5X) will be paid to employees who work on a declared inclement weather day. Those instructed not to report will receive straight time pay for the equivalent of their regular shift.

## Section 2.

- (a) Overtime rates will be paid as follows:
- 1. Time and one-half (1-1/2X) will be paid for all time worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period; all time worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one (1) work week, for which overtime has not already been earned. When an employee voluntarily changes shifts or times of a shift, the twenty-four (24) hour rule for overtime will not apply unless that employee works more than eight hours (8) in the changed shift.
- 2. Whenever an employee is required to return to work after the completion of his regularly scheduled working hours, he shall receive pay for the actual time worked at time and one-half (1-1/2X) his regular rate, or a minimum of two (2) hours pay at his straight time hourly rate, whichever is the greater.
- 3. All hours which are paid by the Employer, but not worked by the employee shall be counted as hours worked for computing overtime payment, except sick pay.
- 4. The one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) hour unpaid or paid lunch period shall be duty free.
- 5. Double time (2X) will be paid for all hours worked on Sunday.

## Section 3.

- (a) Overtime shall be divided and rotated as equally as possible within the building according to seniority, and among those employees who regularly perform such work, provided they are qualified to perform such work.
- (b) It is recognized that overtime is a responsibility of the job. When there is an insufficient number of volunteers for overtime, overtime may be assigned to that qualified employee who has worked the least amount of overtime during the current school year.
- (c) No time off during the week to compensate for overtime, unless mutually agreed between the parties.
- (d) All overtime must be authorized by the Employer.
- (e) The custodian will be assigned to be on duty to cover a scheduled authorized extra activity that is held within the building when that activity creates substantial additional work for the custodian.

## Section 4. Special Job Premium

If a maintenance or custodial classified employee performs bus mechanic duties, he will be paid up to one dollar fifty cents (\$1.50) per hour more as a premium, however, such salary shall not exceed the normal hourly rate of the mechanic.

#### **ARTICLE XVIII**

## SICK LEAVE

## Section 1.

- (a) Each employee covered by this Agreement, at time of hire for full-time employment, will be entitled to sick leave accumulated in a single sick leave bank at the rate of one (1) day per month, with no limit on the maximum accumulation.
- (b) Record of sick leave accumulated and used shall be available to the employee or the Association upon request.
- (c) Sick leave shall be granted to an employee when he is incapacitated from the performance of his duties by sickness, sickness due to pregnancy, injury, or for medical, dental, or optical examination or treatment. Sick leave shall also be granted when a member of the immediate family of the employee's household would require the care and attendance of the employee due to injury or illness. When an employee has prolonged or reoccurring absences, the district reserves the right to require the employee to submit a doctor's excuse before such leave is approved.

## Section 2. Personal Business Days

- (a) Each employee covered by this Agreement, at time of hire for full-time employment, will be entitled to a total of two (2) personal business days per year, deducted from sick leave.
- (b) Personal business means an activity that requires the employee's presence during the working day and is of such nature that it cannot be attended to during another time of the day.
- (c) Application for personal business leave must be submitted in writing at least fortyeight (48) hours in advance, except in the event of an emergency, when a shorter

notice may be acceptable. Personal days will not be granted the day before or after a holiday or vacation.

## Section 3. Funeral Leave

- (a) Each employee will be granted five (5) days of Bereavement leave paid at straight time rate for a death in the immediate family. For purposes of this section, immediate family shall include parents, spouse, child, step-child, brother, sister, grandparents, grandchildren, step-father, step-mother, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-law and half-brothers and half-sisters, and IRS qualified dependents living in the employee's household.
- (b) Each employee will be granted three (3) days of Bereavement leave paid at straight time rate, in case of death of brother-in-law, sister-in-law, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece or first cousin.
- (c) Each employee shall be granted up to one (1) day Bereavement leave, paid at straight time rate, in the case of a death of a close friend or family member not mentioned above in 3(a) or 3(b).

## Section 4. Attendance Bonus

Employees will be paid an attendance bonus for each the period from July 1<sup>st</sup> to December 31<sup>st</sup>, and January 1 to June 30<sup>th</sup> at the following bonus rates and qualifications:

No sick and/or dock days: \$250.00

One (1) sick day: \$200.00 Two (2) sick days: \$150.00

Bereavement days, jury duty and personal days shall not be counted for the calculation of attendance bonus.

Confirmed Covid-19 related personal absences shall not count as qualifying sick leave days solely for the purpose of this incentive.

Attendance bonus will be paid the next pay date following the completion of each half year.

## **ARTICLE XIX**

## **HOLIDAYS**

(a) The Employer will pay eight (8) hours pay for the following holidays, even though no work is performed by the employee:

July Fourth	
Day after July Fourth (observed)	Labor Day
Thanksgiving Day	President's Day
Christmas Day	Memorial Day
Martin Luther King Jr. Day	Good Friday
New Year's Eve Day	New Year's Day
Day before Thanksgiving	Day after Thanksgiving
Christmas Eve Day	Day after Christmas

- (b) Employees required to work on any of the above-named holidays, except Martin Luther King Day, Good Friday or President's Day, shall receive time and one-half (1-1/2X) for hours worked, in addition to the regular holiday pay. Employees required to work on Martin Luther King Day, Good Friday or President's Day shall be granted a day off with pay at a later date which is mutually agreeable to the employee and Employer.
- (c) If an employee is on vacation on any of the above-named holidays, he shall be entitled to an additional day off with pay for the holiday.
- (d) Employees to be eligible for holiday pay must, if scheduled, work the last day preceding the first work day following a holiday, unless on sick leave or authorized leave of absence.
- (e) In the event that the scheduled holidays fall on a Saturday, the employee shall receive the Friday prior to the holiday off with pay; if the scheduled holiday falls on a Sunday, the employee shall receive the Monday after the holiday off with pay. If either the Friday prior to the holiday or the Monday after the holiday are school session days, the employee shall be granted a day off with pay for the holiday at a later date that is mutually agreeable to the employee and the Employer.
- (f) Less than full-time employees will receive the pro-rata portion of the agreed holidays which fall during their normal work term.

(g) If an employee is called in for emergency duty on Good Friday or President's Day and works less than his full shift (as referenced in part (b) of this section), he shall receive time and one-half (1-1/2) for all hours worked.

#### ARTICLE XX

## **INSURANCE BENEFITS**

## Section 1.

- (a) Employees will be required to pay the total cost of health insurance above the State set hard cap limits, which includes both medical insurance premiums and HSA contributions. These co-payments will be payroll deducted through the district's section 125 plan as designated by the employee. The District agrees to pay up to the state hard cap amount allowed during each medical benefit plan year for the duration of the contract term. The selection of plan options shall be mutually agreed by the District and the bargaining unit.
- (b) Members electing not to receive health insurance will be paid cash-in-lieu in the amount of \$5,000 spread over 26 equal payments, starting with the first payroll of the new contract year. Cash-in-lieu is subject to proration.

#### Section 2. Life Insurance

The Board will provide to each employee twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000.00) term life insurance with AD & D through a carrier selected by the Board.

## Section 3. Dental Insurance

The Employer shall pay the premiums for dental insurance through a carrier and network selected by Employer, to include coverage levels of 80/80/80 (preventive/minor/major), with one thousand dollar (\$1,000) calendar year maximum benefit per enrolled member. Orthodontic benefits are not included.

#### Section 4. Vision Insurance

The Employer shall pay the premiums for vision insurance through a carrier and network selected by Employer, to include coverage for eye exams with zero copay at participating providers, calendar year benefit interval for eye exam. Materials, eye glass lenses & eye glass frames with \$200 allowance, contact lenses with \$200 allowance combined with frames and lenses, at a calendar year benefit interval.

## Section 5. Long Term Disability Insurance

The Board will provide to each employee long-term disability insurance through a carrier selected by the Board beginning on the ninetieth (90th) calendar day following the onset of disability, providing sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the employee's salary not to exceed \$3,000.00 per month.

## Section 6. Enrollment

It shall be the responsibility of the eligible employee to properly enroll in programs available and make notification of any change in status in a timely fashion. All benefits are subject to policy, plan or program terms and conditions.

## Section 7. Termination of Benefits

If an employee terminates employment, is terminated, laid off, or goes on an unpaid leave, insurance benefits will cease at the end of the month of termination, or when enrolled for other coverage through a new employer, through retirement insurance, or through a spouse's plan, whichever is earlier.

## Section 8. Continuation of Coverage

An employee on unpaid leave or lay-off shall have the option of continuing insurance coverage, subject to terms and conditions or the carrier, by making cash payments to the District equal to the maximum of 102% of the cost of insurance.

## Section 9. Double Coverage

The District will not be obligated to provide more than one (1) health insurance program to a family unit. If the employee's spouse is also an employee of the District, the bargaining unit member shall designate who is to be the carrier of health insurance and the other shall be eligible for the option. Employees receiving primarily comparable insurance coverage through a spouse shall not be eligible for insurance coverage provided by the District. There shall be no double coverage.

## **ARTICLE XXI**

## **VACATIONS**

(a) Employees continuously employed by the Employer shall receive paid vacation based upon their straight time rate according to the below listed schedule:

Completion of one (1) year of service	Two (2) weeks' vacation with pay
Completion of five (5) years of service	Three (3) weeks' vacation with pay
Completion of ten (10) years of service	Four (4) weeks' vacation with pay
Completion of fifteen (15) years of service	Five (5) weeks' vacation with pay

- (b) As of 7/1/2024, all new hires will be allotted a prorated balance of vacation based on their date of hire, following the completion of their probationary period. The member's probationary period will count toward the prorated balance. All members as of 7/1/2024 will be paid out 50% of their "earned" vacation balance from the previous year's work on the first pay of July 2024, and 50% on the last pay of December 2024. This is a one-time payment and will not occur in future years.
- (c) Vacation time is non-cumulative, and vacations will be scheduled throughout the year at a time that is mutually agreeable between the employee and their immediate supervisor, with the exception of two (2) weeks prior to the start of the school year when vacations will not be allowed. The district may limit the number of employees on vacation at any one time in order to maintain an efficient custodial/maintenance operation. Vacation should be requested thirty (30) calendar days in advance, or at least fourteen (14) calendar days of the requested vacation period, and a response must be given within ten (10) working days of the vacation request. If a vacation request is denied, then the building administrator must give a good reason to the employee.
- (d) Employees terminating employment, or who are placed on a leave of absence shall receive pro-rata vacation allowance based upon one-twelfth (1/12) of their vacation pay for each month or major fraction thereof between the employee's anniversary date, and the employee's termination date, or the date the employee is placed on a leave of absence, whichever is applicable.

## **ARTICLE XXII**

#### SEVERE WEATHER AND EMERGENCIES

## Section 1. Reporting During Severe Weather

Whenever schools are closed due to emergencies or severe weather, all unit members are expected to report for work for their regularly assigned shift, unless instructed otherwise by the Maintenance Supervisor or his/her designee.

## Section 2. Call-In During Severe Weather

During the severe weather or emergencies, an employee may be required to work at times other than his/her regularly assigned shift. Employees may be required to work in a team or teams to keep buildings and grounds operational or prepare for reopening. During such times, the Maintenance Supervisor will supervise the work.

## Section 3. Failure to Report

If an employee is unable to report due to severe weather, the employee will be charged a business leave day, vacation day or unpaid leave day. The employee will designate the type of leave to be charged.

If the weather is so bad and it is too dangerous for an employee(s) to work, as determined by the Director of Facilities and Transportation (or similarly titled supervisor), they will be excused for the day and paid for it.

## **ARTICLE XXIII**

## **JURY DUTY**

Employees requested to appear for jury qualification or service shall receive their pay from the Employer for such time lost as a result of such appearance or service, less any compensation received from such jury service, for a total not to exceed forty-five (45) days per year.

#### **ARTICLE XXIV**

## WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION

A member who is absent due to an injury or illness which is compensable under the Michigan Workers' Compensation Act shall be entitled to full pay and benefits during his or her leave, up to one year. When the employee becomes eligible, the employee shall accept Workers' Compensation Wage Replacement Benefits. The employee shall sign over to the District his or her wage replacement benefit check(s) received under the Workers' Compensation Disability Act, and the District shall issue to the employee his or her regular paycheck.

#### ARTICLE XXV

## CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION

The parties hereto agree that the employees covered by this Agreement shall be considered engaged in the type of work and classification as set forth on Schedule A, attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference.

## **ARTICLE XXVI**

## **BINDING EFFECTIVE AGREEMENT**

This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors, and assignees.

#### **ARTICLE XXVII**

## SCOPE, WAIVER, AND ALTERATION OF AGREEMENT

## Section 1.

No agreement, alteration, understanding, variation, waiver, or modification of any of the terms or conditions or covenants contained herein shall be made by an employee or group of employees with the Employer, unless executed in writing between the parties hereto.

#### Section 2.

The waiver of any breach or condition of the Agreement by either party shall not constitute a precedent in the future enforcement of the terms of any conditions herein.

## Section 3.

If any Article or section of this Agreement, or any supplement thereto should be held invalid by operation of law, or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or endorsement of any Article or section should be restrained by such tribunal, the remainder of this Agreement and supplements shall not be affected thereby, and the parties shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such Article or section.

## ARTICLE XXVIII

## TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION

- (a) This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until June 30, 2027.
- (b) If either party desires to terminate this Agreement it shall, ninety (90) calendar days prior to the termination date, give written notice of termination. If either party shall give notice of termination or withdraws the same prior to the termination date, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, subject to notice of termination by either party on ninety (90) calendar days written notice prior to the current year of termination.
- (c) If either party desires to modify or change this Agreement it shall, ninety (90) calendar days prior to the termination date, or any subsequent termination date, give written notice of amendment, in which event the notice shall set forth the nature of the amendment or amendments desired. If notice of amendment has been given in accordance with this paragraph, this Agreement may be terminated by either party on ten (10) days written notice of termination. Any amendments that may be agreed upon shall become and be a part of this Agreement without modifying or changing any of the other terms of this Agreement.
- (d) Notice of termination or modification shall be communicated in writing to the Association Steward(s). If to the employer, such notice will be addressed to the Board of Education located at 418 Highland Street, Williamston, Michigan 48895, or to any other such address the Association or the Employer may make available to each other.
- (e) The effective date of this Agreement is July 1, 2024.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed.

**FOR THE ASSOCIATION** 

**AND** 

WILLIAMSTON COMMUNITY

WILLIAMSTON CUSTODIAL MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION

SCHOOLS

BOARD OF EDUCATION

418 Highland Street
Williamston, Michigan 48895

President

Brent Tingley

Trent Hull

Trent Hull

Date

FOR THE EMPLOYER

# **SCHEDULE A**

# **WAGE SCHEDULE**

Grounds/Custodian						
Probation	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	
16.45	16.45	17.14	17.86	18.60	19.05	
17.20	17.20	17.89	18.61	19.35	19.80	
17.95	17.95	18.64	19.36	20.10	20.55	

Maintenance I						
Probation	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	
17.63	17.63	18.45	19.25	20.06	20.89	
18.38	18.38	19.20	20.00	20.81	21.64	
19.13	19.13	19.95	20.75	21.56	22.39	

Maintenance II						
Probation	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	
18.45	18.45	19.25	20.06	20.89	22.08	
19.20	19.20	20.00	20.81	21.64	22.83	
19.95	19.95	20.75	21.56	22.39	23.58	

Maintenance III (Maintenance Department only - placement into this category is at the discretion of the Director of Operations)						
Probation	Probation Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5					
	20.38	21.36	22.38	23.46	25.04	
	21.13	22.11	23.13	24.21	25.79	
	21.88	22.86	23.88	24.96	26.54	

Head Mechanic								
Probation	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5			
20.65	20.65	21.56	22.46	23.46	24.47			
21.40	21.40	22.31	23.21	24.21	25.22			
22.15	22.15	23.06	23.96	24.96	25.97			

Lead Groundskeeper							
Probation	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5		
	20.38	21.36	22.38	23.46	25.04		
	21.13	22.11	23.13	24.21	25.79		
	21.88	22.86	23.88	24.96	26.54		

Individuals will move up a step on July 1<sup>st</sup> if they are off probation at that time. If they are on probation, they will move up a step on the following July 1<sup>st</sup>.

Any employee promoted from one class will be moved to the next step of the new classification determined by the Employer, and in no case will the pay be less than what they were receiving.

The number of Maintenance II classification will be determined by the Board.

The Employer shall, at no cost to the employee, train all employees on relevant identified areas, and all employees shall be considered on duty while training.

## LONGEVITY

Each employee who would qualify, based on his total years of continuous seniority with the Employer, shall be paid additional compensation which shall be added to their base rate of pay and paid over the full year. Such longevity wage increases shall be paid to the employee according to the following schedule, and in the same manner as provided for in the regular Salary Schedule.

Five (5) or more years of service, an additional fifty-five cents (\$.55) per hour added to base rate of pay.

Ten (10) years or more of service, an additional seventy-seven cents (\$.77) per hour added to base rate of pay.

Fifteen (15) years or more of service, an additional ninety-nine cents (\$0.99) per hour added to base rate of pay.

Twenty (20) years or more of service, an additional one dollar and twenty-one cents (\$1.21) per hour added to base rate of pay.

Twenty-five (25) years or more of service, an additional one dollar and forty-three cents (\$1.43) per hour added to base rate of pay.

## PAID RETIREMENT

The Board agrees to continue paying the employee's contribution into the Michigan Public School Employee's Retirement Fund.

## **MISCELLANEOUS**

The Employer agrees to furnish, at no cost to the employee, gear or equipment such as coveralls, hip boots, etc., which the Employer believes is an aid to the employee in the performance of their jobs.